No. 22-CV-524



Clerk of the Court Received 10/18/2022 07:54 PM Filed 10/18/2022 07:54 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Filed 10/18/2022 07:54 PM

ANDRE BROWN,

Appellant,

v.

TROY CAPITAL, LLC, et al Appellees.

On appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division

APPELLANT'S COMBINED OPENING BRIEF

AGAINST TROY CAPITAL, LLC AND PROTAS, SPIVOK & COLLINS, LLC

Radi Dennis (#473921) Counsel for *APPELLANT* CONSUMER JUSTICE ESQ P.O. Box 27081 Washington DC 20038 Telephone: (202) 579-1243 rdennis@consumerjusticeesq.com

Jurisdiction

Orders compelling arbitration and staying proceedings operate as an order granting an injunction and necessitates the immediate, interlocutory review of the Court under § 11–721(a)(2)(A), the Court has jurisdiction.

Questions Presented

- Whether the Court's decision <u>Brown v. Troy Capital, LLC, et al.</u>, No. 18-cv-797 (Feb. 18, 2022)("<u>Brown I</u>") holding Troy and Protas failed to prove an enforceable contract to arbitrate between either and Mr. Brown permits Troy a do-over allowing Troy to introduce new "evidence" to prove an enforceable agreement that both failed to prove over <u>four years</u> ago?
- 2. Whether the trial court *again* erred in finding that Troy and Protas prove the existence of an enforceable arbitration agreement
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in holding the "waiver of class action rights" not unconscionable and "clear."
- 4. Whether Troy-Protas effects waiver/forfeiture/default or taking other action inconsistent with an alleged right to arbitrate by choosing to file this action in Civil II branch or by expressly consenting to the

judicial process by actively participating in the litigation <u>or</u> by actively litigating this action prior to the arbitration motion or by doing all?

5. Whether the trial court again erred in refusing to grant Mr. Brown an evidentiary hearing and ordering arbitration despite Mr. Brown's multiple unopposed arguments regarding the delegation clause including its procedural and substantive unconscionability?

Preliminary Statement

Troy Capital, LLC ("Troy") is a debt buyer that purchases debts for pennies on the dollar that banks and other creditors are barred from pursuing or no longer wish to pursue and for which Troy seeks recovery of full value. Protas, Spivok, & Collins, LLC, ("Protas") is a debt collection law firm that files debt collection actions in the District of Columbia on behalf of debt buyers like Troy. **Troy and Protas filed this action against Mr. Brown in Civil II.** Mr. Brown counterclaimed and brought third-party claims against Troy-Protas. The dispute is not between Mr. Brown and FISC or concerning a "payment extension" thus the alleged FISC arbitration agreement that is not assigned to Troy-Protas is irrelevant. Mr. Brown counterclaims and cross-claims under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA"), the District of Columbia Consumer Protection and Procedures Act ("CPPA"), the District of Columbia Debt Collection Law ("DCDCL") in addition to malicious prosecution and abuse of process relating to Troy-Protas' debt collection practices.

Most of these Troy-initiated lawsuits, like lawsuits filed by other debt buyers around the country, end in default judgments or harsh consent agreements against black and brown folks on meritless claims. Troy's lawsuit against Mr. Brown was headed down that path as Troy never served Mr. Brown. In this action, Troy seeks a deficiency judgment allegedly resulting from repossession of a vehicle. Looking to obtain a quick default judgment, Troy requested entry of default and default judgment against Mr. Brown. The default was later vacated when counsel for Mr. Brown so moved. Troy then switched strategies. Mr. Brown propounded discovery, Troy propounded discovery, Troy filed a motion to dismiss and Mr. Brown opposed. Troy-Protas' then filed arbitration motions. The trial court granted both arbitration motions Mr. Brown appealed and the Court vacated and remanded the judgment in <u>Brown I</u>. The trial court then permits Troy-Protas to supplement the record in an unprecedented doover opportunity to prove an arbitration agreement to Mr. Brown's great prejudice. The trial court again grants both motions and Mr. Brown now appeals a second time the same question.

Statement of Facts

The procedural process employed below is enormously unfair and prejudicial to Mr. Brown. This is the second appeal on the same question despite the Court's determination that neither Troy nor Protas prove an enforceable agreement to arbitrate with Mr. Brown in Brown I. The trial court improperly construes Brown I to enable Troy-Protas a do-over to prove what both failed to prove the first time. Mr. Brown spent four years appealing the trial court's previous erroneous decision and now is forced to do the same thing all over again. The rules say Troy-Protas' burden is to prove an enforceable arbitration agreement using summary judgment evidence in each's opening arbitration motion. Mr. Brown's burden is not triggered until Troy-Protas' burden is met. Both failed four years ago and again today. If Mr. Brown is worthy of real justice as oppose to a subjugated inferior kind typically suffered by black and brown folks, Troy-Protas lose as both fail to prove an enforceable agreement in 2018 when both arbitration motions were filed. Mr. Brown being required to fight the same battle twice demonstrates a privilege afforded to Troy-Protas that is not only unfairly denied to Mr. Brown but denies Mr. Brown access to the judicial system by forcing him to leap over the same mountain twice when as a distressed debtor Mr. Brown can ill afford to do so.

On November 13, 2017, Troy Capital, LLC ("Troy") opted out of arbitration electing to file this action in Civil II where it sought a deficiency amount allegedly resulting from the repossession and sale of a Hyundai Azera-V6 VIN# KMHFC46F26A136665 ("Vehicle") previously owned by Mr. Andre Brown. Troy alleges in its Verified Complaint that Mr. Brown owed Troy "a deficiency balance in the sum of \$12, 975.47." [JA43]. Attached to Troy's Verified Complaint is an "Explanation of Calculation of Surplus or Deficiency" ("Notice"). [JA46]. Also attached to Troy's Complaint is a "CONSENT TO HAVE PROCEEDINGS

CONDUCTED BY HEARING COMMISSIONER" signed by Troy's counsel Protas.[JA52]. Troy never served Mr. Brown. After filing a false affidavit averring service on December 6, 2017 Troy, through its counsel Protas, requests entry of default on January 4, 2018 and default judgment against Mr. Brown on January 18, 2018; filing a motion for default judgment on January 19, 2018. [JA2, JA53-54]. On January 5, 2018, the Clerk entered a default against Mr. Brown and sent Mr. Brown notification. [JA55]. Counsel moved to vacate the default which was vacated on March 8, 2018. [JA3]. The parties also entered a Scheduling Order. [JA56].

Mr. Brown filed an Answer to Troy's complaint and filed class counterclaims against Troy and Protas based on repossession laws (16 DCMR § 300 *et seq*), the FDCPA, the CPPA, the DCDCL, malicious prosecution and abuse of process. [JA58, JA63]. Mr. Brown served discovery on Troy and Protas on April 24, 2018. [JA133]. Troy served Mr. Brown discovery dated April 24, 2018. [JA132]. Troy responded to Mr. Brown's discovery on May 24, 2018 with merit-based objections including "overly broad in time and scope," vague, "not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence," "duplicative," and "unduly burdensome." Troy also objected on intent to move for arbitration. [JA135-137]. After serving its own discovery requests, Troy moved to dismiss on May 15, 2018. [JA86]. Mr. Brown opposed on May 29, 2018. [JA88].

Protas filed an arbitration or in the alternative motion to dismiss Mr. Brown's cross-claims on June 4, 2018 where Protas attaches a single document, "payment-extension-arbitration-agreement" bared on the letterhead of third-party "First Investors Servicing Corporation" ("FISC') and containing **no reference** to Troy, Protas, Crown Asset Management, LLC ("Crown"), First Investors Financial Services ("FIFS"), First Investors Auto Receivables Corporation ("FIARC") or Wells Fargo, N.A., all of which are implicated as assignees of the RISC to which Troy claims ownership. [JA92, JA44, JA45, JA47]. The alleged "arbitration agreement" is not assigned to Troy/Protas. The hearsay document identifies FISC as

the only signatory and contains the word "waived" and other written comments wholly ignored by Troy-Protas to this day. [JA92]. Troy filed an arbitration motion the day after using the same third-party untrustworthy hearsay document. [JA96-102]. The document titled "Application for Payment Extension" is the sole basis both Troy-Protas rely to compel arbitration as no other documents are attached including the missing **RISC** and the other documents Troy-Protas rely on **four years later**. Troy-Protas do not invoke the delegation clause in either's motion but instead submits the arbitrability question to the court. *See* Troy's & Protas Mot. (2018).

Mr. Brown timely opposed both motions on June 18th and 19th of 2018. [JA103-108]. Mr. Brown did not agree to arbitrate his claims against Troy-Protas. On June 20, 2018, docketed on June 26, 2018, Protas filed a Reply to Mr. Brown's opposition sandbagging Mr. Brown by filing new untrustworthy hearsay documents purporting to prove an assignment of the "payment-extension-arbitration-agreement." [JA109-129]. The documents do not as <u>Brown I</u> determined. [JA34]. The Reply documents too are third-party titled "Bill of Sale" purporting to be an assignment of "Accounts" from Crown to Troy and referencing an "Agreement," "certain Accounts" and "accounts listed in Exhibit 'A'" [JA119], a "Retail Installment Sale Contract" ("RISC") [JA112], and another document titled

"Bill of Sale and Assignment" purporting to be an assignment from FIFS to Crown. [JA117]. The "Bill of Sale and Assignment" references "Accounts.. ..as set forth in the Account Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit I" and "delivered by Closing Date" and "as described in the Agreement." [JA117]. Protas do not attach any of the agreements or documents referenced in either of the purported assignments or any affidavits to its Reply.

Prior to Brown I, Mr. Brown filed a motion to amend counterclaims, add third party defendants and extend discovery deadline on May 25, 2018. [JA254]. Protas opposed the motion to amend counterclaims at the June 22, 2018 and expressed intent to file an opposition. [JA139]. Mr. Brown orally moved to withdraw his motion to add third-party defendants at the July 13, 2018 hearing which is granted by the trial court. [JA6]. The withdrawn proffered allegations are not docketed no judicial admissions by Mr. Brown exist. Troy-Protas continue its failure to prove an arbitration agreement between Troy and Mr. Brown four years later and despite the improper do-over. Troy files the same two "payment-extension-arbitrationagreements" containing the words "waived" and "waive" written on both. Troy filed none of the new and untimely documents filed by Protas in support of its initial arbitration motion. Neither of the alleged assignments, "Bill of Sale" or the "Bill of Sale and Assignment," identifies Mr. Brown or

reference an arbitration agreement. Also, given Protas' clear sandbag of Mr. Brown, the denial to Mr. Brown an opportunity to respond to newly and untimely filed documents, affords a privilege to Troy-Protas that Mr. Brown appears unworthy of. [JA145]. The same privilege allowing Troy, after waiving supplementing the record, to do so albeit to the great expense to Mr. Brown having already appealed the first decision. '[JA 150-151]

Though Troy-Protas are prejudicially and improperly permitted to supplement after <u>Brown I</u>, despite the second-bite Troy-Protas fail again. Troy filed more third-party untrustworthy hearsay documents and introduces a brand-new affidavit by Troy's alleged CEO, Rance Willey. [JA172]. In the sham affidavit Willey attempts to authenticate multiple third-party documents of which Willey has no personal knowledge including the RISC, letters on the letterhead of FISC, an unlabeled list of purported accounts not created by Troy nor identified as "Exhibit A" as referenced in the "assignment" [JA187, 189], a purported assignment between "FIFS and Crown" and the truth and accuracy of the "paymentextension-arbitration-agreements" and all the other third-party hearsay documents attached to Willey's affidavit. [JA172-75]. The "arbitration-

¹ "The Bill of Sale evidencing Troy Capital's ownership is sufficient proof and no further investigation or discovery is necessary on this point." *See* Troy's Opp'n to Mot. for Recon. at 3 (filed in 2018)

agreement" is also absent from the purported "ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE PURCHASE AGREEMENT." Willey has no idea what Troy purchased from Crown if anything as the last facially identified assignee of the RISC is FIARC and Wells Fargo, not FIFS. [JA215].

Neither FISC nor the "payment-extension-arbitration-agreement" is identified in the RISC at all. No assignment from FIARC/Wells Fargo to FIFS, the party that purportedly assigned the alleged agreement-containing**no-arbitration-clause** to Crown is even addressed in the affidavit. The "arbitration agreement" contains no language purporting to amend the **RISC.** [JA93-94]. Willey also has no idea what accounts, if any, were allegedly assigned to Crown by FIFS as Mr. Brown is not identified anywhere in the alleged assignment. Willey also does not know whether the alleged "payment extension" was considered, approved, granted, denied or whether the "arbitration agreement" is "waived" as facially indicated. [JA126]. All the documents are offered to prove the truth of the matters stated within the documents thus are inadmissible hearsay and do not satisfy Rule 56. Troy-Protas have disastrously failed on every level and there is zero basis in the evidentiary record proving an arbitration agreement between Troy-Protas and Mr. Brown. Unless the laws apply differently to Troy-Protas than to Mr. Brown, the decision is clear error.

Also, the RISC attached to Protas's Reply states: "(i) only this contract and the addenda to this contract comprise the entire agreement between you and the assignee relating to this contract; (ii) any change to this contract must be in writing and the assignee must sign it." [JA44].² There is no arbitration agreement in the RISC. [JA44-45]. As such, an assignment of the RISC from FIFS to Crown, as deficiently claimed by Troy-Protas, contains no arbitration agreement. The RISC also contains the following "First Investors Financial Services, Inc. has sold and assigned all right, title and interest in this contract to First Investors Auto Receivables Corporation which has granted a security interest in this contract to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association." ("Wells Fargo"). [JA45]. FIFS is also identified as an assignee in the RISC. [JA44]. In other words, FIFS, FIARC and Wells Fargo are identified as assignees in the RISC with FIARC and Wells Fargo identified as the last assignees. There is no document in the record from FIARC/Wells Fargo purporting to assign the RISC to Crown/FIFS/Troy. Also very importantly, any change to the **RISC must be signed by** FIARC/Wells Fargo/FIFS, the alleged assignees before Crown. Troy-Protas third-party "arbitration agreement" purports a signature of FISC only, a wholly separate entity. FISC has never been an assignee of the RISC.

² Troy never filed the **RISC** in connection with its initial motion.

Two days after Protas filed its Reply attaching the untimely third-party documents, the trial court held the June 22, 2018 Status Hearing. [JA144]. Mr. Brown requests the opportunity to file a sur-reply to Protas's Reply that is immediately denied. [JA145]. Mr. Brown also requests an evidentiary hearing relating to his unconscionability claim that is denied. [JA147]. Mr. Brown moves to reconsider that is denied the day after it is filed. [JA130, JA286]. Yet, though prior to <u>Brown I</u>, Troy-Protas waive any record supplementation stating:

...the court needs to draw a line and decide based on the documents that it has which Troy identified as the payment extension agreement and the language of the clause. See Opp'n to Mot. for Recon. at 4.

and

The Bill of Sale evidencing Troy Capital's ownership is sufficient proof and no further investigation or discovery is necessary on this point." See Troy's Opp'n to Mot. for Recon. at 3.

The trial court permits Troy-Protas to supplement the record when both should be judicially estopped from doing so after expressly stating the record sufficient and the court ruling in its favor denying Mr. Brown reconsider motion based thereon. This time also, the court improperly delegates the unconscionability issue to the arbitrator and again refuses Mr. Brown's request for an evidentiary hearing thereon and despite Troy-Protas' deficient and untimely invocation of the "delegation clause." [JA25].

The only arguments made by Troy as to unconscionability is the agreement contains an opt-out provision, allows Mr. Brown to seek judicial action, allow Mr. Brown to select an arbitrator of his choice. The only arguments made by Protas relating to unconscionability are that Mr. Brown signed two arbitration agreements, the alleged agreement is not a contractof-adhesion because it contains an opt-out provision, the "agreement" allows for court intervention via small claims court and that the "agreement" allows Mr. Brown to choose from two arbitration providers or a different provider subject to FISC's approval (one of the identified providers is defunct and the other issued a moratorium on acceptance of collection actions). See Protas Reply Mem. at 4. Both Troy and Protas also argued that "[n]o discovery is necessary" and have not provided any discovery to this day. See Opp'n to Mot. for Recon. at 3; Protas Reply Mem. at 5. Neither Troy nor Protas provide any rebuttal evidence to 1) Mr. Brown's affidavit averring to his inability to pay for arbitration, his inability to obtain legal representation if compelled to arbitrate, his inability to pay attorney fees to Troy and Protas that may be awarded by the arbitrator and no opportunity to negotiate any of the terms of the arbitration agreement; or 2) evidence regarding the high cost of arbitration; and 3) the unavailability of both of the identified arbitration providers in the alleged agreement. [JA105-108]. However, the trial court grants both

arbitration motions a second time relying on the newly filed third-party

hearsay documents and an unlabeled spreadsheet with the name "Andre

Brown" that Troy admits to not creating. [JA283].

Without the benefit of any record evidence or proof of an assignment

chain to FISC, the trial court erroneously holds:

"Yes. I found that there's a valid arbitration agreement here."

[JA21]. The trial court also held:

my conclusions are as follows.

one, that the arbitration clause is applicable. Number two, that because it is applicable, the counterclaims against Troy and Protas should be stayed; an consistent with the broad language of the clause, and the interpretation of what is governed under the Federal Arbitration Act, both by the D.C. Circuit and by the Supreme Court, that the arbitrator in this case will address the question of waiver. The arbitrator in this case will address the issue of unconscionability.

[JA24-25]. In doing so the trial court misapprehends precedent and the

FAA. The irony is, though Troy sues Mr. Brown in this action for a

deficiency amount of \$12, 975.47stemming from a repossession, Troy

argues that Mr. Brown's claims relating to unlawful repossession and a

deficiency bar must be arbitrated. Mr. Brown appeals, again.

Pertinent Statutory Provisions

Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C.A. § 1 to 16 ; Revised Uniform Arbitration Act D.C.Code § 16-4401 *et seq.* (2012 Repl.) ("RUAA")

Standard of Review

The standard of review is de novo for orders appealed based on contract interpretation presenting questions of law. Bank of America, NA., et al v. District of Columbia, 80 A.3d 650, 667 (D.C. 2013). "Before compelling arbitration..., a court must find that the parties have an enforceable agreement to arbitrate and that 'the underlying dispute between the parties falls within the scope of the agreement." Jahanbein v. Ndidi Condo. Unit Owners Ass'n, 85 A.3d 824, 827 (D.C. 2014). "When the trial court sits as the trier of fact, we review its factual findings under the 'clearly erroneous' standard." Id. When denial of an agreement to arbitrate is asserted, the court "shall proceed summarily to the determination of the issue so raised and shall order arbitration if found for the moving party, otherwise, the application shall be denied." See 9 U.S.C. § 4 (1988); D.C.Code § 16-4302(a). Proceeding "summarily" means that the court initially determines whether material issues of fact are disputed. Havnes v. Kuder, 591 A.2d 1286, 1290 (D.C. 1991). "[T]he procedure to resolve 'deni[als] of the existence of the agreement to arbitrate' under the Arbitration Act mirrors

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