Received 11/17/2022 03:55 PM Filed 11/17/2022 03:55 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

ANDRE BROWN,

Appellant,

V.

TROY CAPITAL, LLC, et al.

Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Division

RESPONSIVE BRIEF OF APPELLEE TROY CAPITAL, LLC

Michael E. Barnsback, Esq. (Bar # 1614499) Colleen P. Reilly, Esq. (Bar # 1531490) O'HAGAN MEYER, PLLC 2560 Huntington Avenue, Suite 204 Alexandria, VA 22303 Telephone: (703) 775-8601 mbarnsback@ohagameyer.com creilly@ohaganmeyer.com

Counsel for Appellee Troy Capital, LLC

PARTICIPANT LIST PURSUANT TO RULE 28(a)(2)

Appellant

Andre C. Brown, Appellant,

Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party

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

Mr. Willey testified that in addition to the Asset Schedule, at the time of the closing of the sale, Crown provided Troy with a copy of the Bill of Sale and Assignment between Crown and FIFS, and that Exhibit 3 to his affidavit was a true and accurate copy of the Bill of Sale. JA 173, ¶ 8. Mr. Willey also testified that the other exhibits to the Purchase Agreement, including a copy of Mr. Brown's Retail Installment Sale Contract, the Application for Payment Extension signed by Mr. Brown on February 7, 2012, and the Application for Payment Extension signed by Mr. Brown on October 29, 2012 which were provided by Crown at the time of the closing of the transaction and that the respective exhibits attached to Mr. Willey's affidavit were true and accurate copies of the documents. JA 173-174, ¶¶ 9-13.

Mr. Willey's affidavit establishes the foundation for the authenticity of the Purchase Agreement and its associated exhibits. Moreover, the affidavit establishes

the Rule 43-I standards for their admissibility. It is significant that under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, Crown specifically warranted "the accuracy and completeness of the data" contained in the Asset Schedule. JA 176. Crown also warranted that it "is the sole owner of the Accounts and has full right to transfer and sell its rights herein." JA 180, ¶ 7.3. To the extent that Troy may not have had personal knowledge of Asset Schedule and the accounts listed on the Asset Schedule, the warranty and representations by Crown are sufficient to establish the admissibility of the documents under the business records exception to the hearsay rule. See Meaders v. United States, 519 A.2d 1248, 1255 (D.C. 1986) citing In re D.M.C., 503 A.2d 1280, 1282-1283 (D.C.1986).

Mr. Willey's affidavit and attached exhibits were admissible and properly considered by the trial court.

C. Troy Capital is an Assignee of the Rights to Mr. Brown's Account, and Therefore Can Enforce the Arbitration Agreement.

The right to freely assign is presumed, *Bradenburger & Davis, Inc. v. Estate of Lewis*, 771 A.2d 984, 987 (D.C. 2001), and an assignee generally holds the same rights and remedies as the assignor. *Woodland Ltd. P'ship v. Wulff*, 868 A.2d 860, 863 (D.C. 2005). "Our judicial preference for free assignability is such that '[u]nless a contract contains 'clear and unambiguous language' prohibiting an assignment, [we will not] honor attempts to restrict the right to assign freely." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). "Under general principles of contract law the assignee of an

interest has the same rights as the assignor and, as a result, the assignee can enforce those rights by the same remedies available to the assignor." *Woodland L.P. v. Wulff*, 868 A.2d 860, 863 (D.C. 2005).

The evidence submitted by Troy to the trial court on remand established that Troy is an assignee to Mr. Brown's arbitration agreement. The evidence submitted in the record, including the affidavit of Rance Willey, the Purchase Agreement, Asset Schedule, Account Documents and Bill of Sale and Assignment between Crown and FISC, conclusively establish that Mr. Brown's original account with FIFS, including the Application for Payment Extension dated February 2, 2011 and October 31, 2011, was assigned to Troy. See JA 172-224, Supp. App. 00385-409. Specifically, the Asset Schedule which was provided by Crown to Troy as part of the Purchase Agreement, which lists Mr. Brown's account at line 753, satisfies the inquiry that Mr. Brown's account was transferred to Troy, and thus the arbitration agreement assigned to Troy. JA 189-212, Supp. App. 00385-409. The other account documents, including the May 21, 2011 Retail Installment Sale Contract between FIFS and Mr. Brown, the Application for Payment Extension between FISC and Mr. Brown on February 2, 2021 and the Application for Payment Extension between FISC and Mr. Brown on October 29, 2012, and the Bill of Sale between FIFS and Crown, provide further support for the fact that Mr. Brown's account which included the arbitration agreement was assigned to Troy. JA 172-224. Further, there should

be no question that FISC was an authorized agent of FIFS. In the prior appeal by Mr. Brown, this Court deferred to the trial court's finding that FISC was a subsidiary of FIFA. Additionally, the two Application for Payment Extensions, which contain the arbitration agreement, specifically disclose that FISC was the "duly authorized servicer" of the original account for Mr. Brown with FIFS. JA216 and 220.

Based on this evidence, the trial court held, "I do find, based on this information, that had been previously submitted in a form that was not legible because of the small print and to which the Court of Appeals refers in its slip opinion, suffices to show that there is an arbitration agreement that is binding between the parties here." JA 20; Supp. App. 00471. The trial court's finding that Troy was an assignee of Mr. Brown's arbitration agreements was not "plainly wrong" and was supported by the evidence. *See Bank of Am., N.A.*, 80 A.3d at 667. This Court should provide "considerable deference" to the trial court's factual findings and affirm the trial court's decision.

D. The Trial Court Properly Referred the Matter to Arbitration to Resolve the Remaining Issues of Waiver and Unconscionability.

"The [Federal] Arbitration Act establishes that, as a matter of federal law, any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability." *Wolff v*.

Westwood Mgmt., *LLC*, 558 F.3d 517, 520 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (interpreting arbitrability under the FAA).

"The Supreme Court has recognized...that parties agree to arbitrate gateway questions of arbitrability, such as whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate or whether their agreement covers particular controversy." Sakyi v. Estee Lauder Companies, Inc., 308 F.Supp.3d 366, 377 (D.D.C. 2018) (quotations omitted) (quoting Rent-A-Ctr., W., Inc. v. Jackson, 561 U.S. 63, 68-69 (2010)). Courts will find that a party has agreed that arbitrators should decide arbitrability if there is clear and unmistakable evidence of such an agreement. See Sakvi, 308 F. Supp. At 377 (citing First Options of Chi., Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 944 (1995) (quoting AT&T Techs., Inc. v. Commc'ns Workers of Am., 475 U.S. 643, 649 (1986)); see also Howsam v. Deam Witter Reynolds, Inc., 537 U.S. 79, 83 (2002). The Supreme Court recently reaffirmed that it "has consistently held that parties may delegate threshold arbitrability questions to the arbitrator, so long a the parties' agreement does so by 'clear and unmistakable' evidence. Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc. 139 S. Ct. 524, 530 202 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2019).

Here, the Arbitration Clause specifically provides that "[a]ny arbitration under this Arbitration Clause shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. Section 1 et seq.) and not by any state law concerning arbitration." JA 121-124 and 126-129; Supp. App. 00268-276 and 00277-280. Under the Federal Arbitration Act,"

arbitration is a matter of contact, and courts must enforce arbitration contracts according to their terms." *Henry Schein Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. at 529, 202 L.Ed. 2d 480 (2019). As the language of the Arbitration Clause here broadly encompasses "all claims" and it clearly and unmistakably delegates threshold issues of arbitrability to the arbitrator.

1. The trial court properly committed the question of waiver by litigation to the arbitrator.

In the February 18, 2022, Memorandum Opinion and Judgment, this Court directed that, "[o]n remand, if Troy ultimately establishes that it was the assignee of Mr. Brown's account and thus that there was an arbitration agreement between Troy and Mr. Brown, the trial court should indicate whether it is committing the question of waiver by litigation to the arbitrator." JA 36-37. As discussed above, the trial court properly found that Troy was the assignee of Mr. Brown's account and that there was an arbitration agreement between Troy and Mr. Brown. JA 20; Supp. App. 00471. Thus, as directed by this Court on remand, the trial court properly held that consistent with the broad language of the arbitration clause it was committing the question of waiver by litigation to the arbitrator. JA 24-25; Supp. App. 00475-00476.

2. The trial court properly committed the question of unconscionability to the arbitrator.

This Court, in acknowledging the possibility that unconscionability should be considered by the arbitrator, directed the trial court to decide the delegation question on remand. JA 38 at FN. 9.

The issue of whether the arbitration agreement contains a delegation clause only comes into play once the court has ruled that a valid contract was formed. See § 19:13 Arbitration provision—Delegation clause, 1 Commercial Arbitration § 19:13, citing *Granite Rock Co. v. International Broth. of Teamsters*, 561 U.S. 287, 299–301, 130 S. Ct. 2847, (2010). Once a Court finds that a contract to arbitrate was formed then the Court determines whether there is a valid delegation clause in the arbitration agreement. See *Id.* Here, Mr. Brown disputed that the arbitration agreement was assigned to Troy, as such the Court needed to address that issue prior to turning to the issue of arbitrability. On remand, Troy submitted evidence which the trial court found was sufficient to that it was an assignee of the arbitration agreement, which by its plain language delegated the threshold arbitrability questions to the arbitrator. JA 20; Supp. App. 00471

The Arbitration Clause in question states in pertinent part:

"Claim" means any claim or dispute, whether in contract, tort, statute or otherwise (<u>including the validity</u>, <u>enforceability</u>, <u>interpretation and scope of this clause</u>, <u>and the arbitrability of the claim or dispute</u>), between you and us or our employees, agents, successors or assigns, which arises out of or relates in any way to the servicing and collection of your contract served by us.

"Claim" shall have the broadest possible interpretation.

JA 93-94, 122-123, 30-31 (emphasis added).

"[W]here a party challenges the arbitrability of a dispute, it is the very authority of the arbitrator to decide that is at issue, and the presumption is that the court must first settle the basic contractual question, unless the parties "clearly and unmistakably provide otherwise." Woodland, 868 A.2d at 864. But once that basic question has been resolved in favor of arbitration...it is for the arbitrator to resolve other "gateway" matters that the parties "would likely expect" that the arbitrator would decide. *Id.* at 865. This includes "procedural questions which grow out of the dispute and bear on its final disposition," and "allegations of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability." Id. Where the language of the agreement to arbitrate is broad, questions as to waiver should be submitted to the arbitrator. See Woodland, 868 A.2d at 865 (discussing broad agreement to arbitrate "any dispute arising under or related to" a partnership agreement, and that the question of waiver should be submitted to arbitrator).

Here, the language of the arbitration clause broadly encompasses all "claims" and unmistakably delegates threshold issues of arbitrability to the arbitrator. Moreover, nowhere February 18, 2022, Memorandum Opinion and Judgment did this Court hold that Troy waived its right to delegate the threshold issues of arbitrability and unconscionability, and in fact, the order on remand specifies that

the trial court is to decide whether such issues are to be decided by the trial court or be submitted to an arbitrator. JA 38 at FN. 9.

The issue of unconscionability is a potential defense to arbitrability. Thus, the issue of unconscionability is properly decided by the arbitrator. As clearly held by the United States Supreme Court, "the presumption is that the arbitrator should decide "allegation[s] of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability." *Howsam*,537 U.S. at 84, 123 S. Ct. at 592. When the parties' contract delegates the arbitrability question to an arbitrator, the courts must respect the parties' decision as embodied in the contract." *TD Auto Fin., LLC v. Bedrosian*, 609 S.W. 3d 763, 771 (Mo. Ct. App. 2020)(citing, *Schein*, 139 S. Ct. at 529). A court may not override the contract. *Id.* Here, the language of the Arbitration Clause clearly and unmistakably delegates threshold issues of arbitrability to the arbitrator. Similar to *T.D. Auto Fin., LLC*, Troy has raised arbitrability issues of unconscionability which pursuant to the party's agreement, must be reserved for the arbitrator.

The trial court acted properly and consistent with the direction of this Court in deciding that that issue of unconscionability should be decided by the arbitrator.

E. Scope of This Appeal is Limited

In the February 18, 2022, Memorandum Opinion and Judgment, this Court limited the issues on remand for the trial court to determine: (1) whether Troy and Protas are assignees of the arbitration agreement between Mr. Brown and FISC; and

in the event that the trial court found that Mr. Brown's account was among those transferred to Troy, (2) determine whether the question of waiver by litigation should be determined by the arbitrator; and, (3) determine whether the issue of unconscionability should be determined by an arbitrator, and if not, hold an evidentiary hearing to resolve the factual issues necessary to the resolution of Mr. Brown's unconscionability claim. JA 29-42. The Memorandum Opinion and Judgment resolved all other issues raised by the parties on the appeal. Mr. Brown did not petition this Court for a Rehearing En Banc, as permitted by Rule 35, Rules of the District of Columbia Court of Appeals. Thus, the February 18, 2022, Memorandum Opinion and Judgment is a final ruling on the issues raised by the parties on the appeal, and thus became the law of the case, subject to resolution of the specific issues sent back to the trial court on remand.

Rather than appeal the limited issues on remand, Mr. Brown has sought to revisit the same arguments previously before this Court on his prior appeal. Mr. Brown erroneously argued that he "is forced to appeal the same question for the second time to the Court." Appellant's Combined Opening Brief, p. 19. Mr. Brown's intention to reargue the prior appeal is reflected in the Statement of Facts in Mr. Brown's Opening Brief which only addressed proceedings and issues raised at the time the trial court entered its June 22, 2018, Order, which was the subject of the prior appeal. See Appellant's Combined Opening Brief, pp. 10-20.

Mr. Brown's argument in Section A of his Combined Opening Brief improperly seeks a ruling on whether Troy and Protas waived their rights to arbitration through litigation conduct. Appellant's Combined Opening Brief, pp. 23-40. The trial court did not make a finding on the substantive issue of waiver through litigation, but instead, as directed by this Court held that it was committing the question of waiver by litigation to the arbitrator. JA 24-25; Supp. App. 00475-00476. Similarly, in Sections B. iv. and D of Mr. Brown's Combined Opening Brief improperly seeks a ruling that the arbitration agreement is unconscionable. Appellant's Combined Opening Brief, pp. 60-62, 66-81. As with the waiver issue, the trial court did not make a finding on the substantive issue of unconscionability, but instead committed the question of unconscionability to the arbitrator. JA 24-25; Supp. Ap. 00475-00476. It is axiomatic that a party cannot appeal an issue that was not before the trial court. The only issues concerning waiver and unconscionability that are properly on appeal are whether the trial court's decision to commit those issues for decision by the arbitrator was clearly erroneous.

Finally, in sections B. ii, iii and v of Appellant's Combined Opening Brief (pp. 47-60 and 63-63), Mr. Brown seeks to reopen issues that were raised during his first appeal and resolved when this Court issued the February 18, 2022, Memorandum Opinion and Judgment. Mr. Brown's attempt to relitigate these issues violates the law of the case doctrine which provides that "when a case is appealed

and remanded, the decision of the appellate court establishe[s] the law of the case, which must be followed by the trial court on remand." Does I through III v. D.C., 593 F. Supp. 2d 115, 122 (D.D.C. 2009)(citing Griffin v. United States, 935 F.Supp. 1, 5 (D.D.C.1995). Moreover, the issues argued in section B. ii, iii and iv, were not before trial court on remand, thus there is no ruling to appeal.

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